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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA
TAMPA DIVISION

BOBO’'S DRUGS, INC.
Plaintiff,
V. Case N08:17<v-1862-T-36TBM
FAGRON, INC., FAGRON ACADEMY,
LLC, FAGRON PROFESSIONAL
SERVICES, LLC, FAGRON HOLDING
USA, LLC and B&B
PHARMACEUTICALS, INC,

Defendants.
/

ORDER

This causecomes before the Court upon tBefendants’ Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff's
Class Action Complaint and Incorporated Memorandum of (Re¢. 19) and Plaintiff's respose
in opposition(Doc. 25. Defendants movi dismissdoth counts of th€omplainton the grounds
that Plaintiff lacksa concrete and particularized harm to establish stanDiefgndants were not
“senders” of a fax communication that gave risghe Canplaint within the meaning of the
Telephone Consumer Protection Act, 47 U.§Q27 (“TCPA”), and the statute of limitations
bars certain claims by Plaintiff Doc. 19 at p. 2. The Coutaving considered thparties
submissiongand being fully advised in the premisedl grant, in parttheDefendantsMotion to
Dismissas to all claims pertaining to the May 1, 2013. f&ax all other respects, the Defendants

Motion to Dismiss will be denied.
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STATEMENT OF FACTS!?

Plaintiff Bobds Drugs, Inc. d/b/a/ Davis Islandshdémacy (“Bobo’s Drugs”) is an
independent pharmacy. Doc.f15. Defendantdagron, Inc.; Fagron Academy, LLC; Fagron
Professional Sercices, LLC, Fagron Holding USA, LLC, and B&B haeuticals (collectively,
“Defendants”) allegedlyaxedadvertisementseither directly or through a third party, Bobo’s
Drugsand a class of similarly situated persomoc. 1 9 1, 18. Bobo’s Drugs attached two of
Defendarg’ fax advertisements to the Complaint, one received on June 2, 2016, and the second
received on May 1, 2013Id. § 19 Ex. A-B. The 2016 faxadvertises the Fagron Academy
Compounding Technical Services (“FACTS”) program, a subscription continuing extueati
consulting service, and displays a website address, telephone numbemaihdadress that can
be used to subscribe to the FACTS progrdah 11 2Q 22, Ex. A The 2013 faxadvertises the
commercial availability of Defendants’ pharmaceutical ingrediemd products and informs
recipients that the lied prices are only available until May 31, 20aBwhile supplies lastd.

23. It alsocontainsan address, toll free telephone number, and toll free fax nuthmitecan be
usedto place an order for Defendants’ pharmaceuticilsy 24.

Additionally, Bobo’s Drugdelieves Defendants sent similar advertisements to tinrte
other personsld. { 26. Plaintiff brought suit on behalf of itself and all others similarly situated
as members of a class, initially defined as follows:

Each peson sent one or more telephone facsimile messages from Fagron or B&B
Pharmaceuticals promoting pharmaceutical products or educational sereres f
the Fagron Academy Compounding Technical Services [FACTS] but did not
inform recipients that to opt out oéaeiving further faxes they must identify the
telephone number of the telephone facsimile machine to which theubpquest

! The following statement of facts is derived from Plaintiff’'s Complaint (Cycthe allegations
of which the Court must accept as true in ruling on the instant Motions to Disgeeskinder v.
Portocarrero, 963 F.2d 332, 334 (11th Cir. 1992wality Foods de Centro Am., SA. v. Latin Am.
Agribusiness Dev. Corp. SA., 711 F. 2d 989, 994 (11th Cir. 1983).
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relates, that a request must be made to the telephone number, facsimile number,
Web site address or email address identified thie sender’s facsimile
advertisement, and that an aptt request will be valid until the recipient
subsequently provides express invitation or permission to the sender, in writing or
otherwise, authorizing advertisements by fax.

Id. 1 28.

Based on these facts, Bobo’s Drugs filed a-twant Complaint.ld. Count | alleges that
Defendants violated the TCPA by sending the fax advertisements to Bohajs Bnd other
similarly situated class members without their prior express invitation or permidsidf { 38-

59. Count | further alleges that Bobo’s Drugs and other similarly situated wiambers were
damaged because the faxesd uptelephone linespreventedfax machines from sending or
receiving authorized faxesausedindue wear and tear on the recipient’s fax machinesyasidd

the recipients time, paper, and ink tonerd. 11 4, 59. Count Il alleges that by sending
advertisements tthe class’sax machines, Defendants converted the class’s fax machines, paper,
toner, and time to Defendants’ own udd. 1160-67.

Defendantdiled the instant Motion to Dismiss, arguing that (1) Bobo’s Drugs’ TCPA
claim based on the 2013 fax advertisement is barred by the four year statutgatibhs) (2)
Defendants Fagron, Inc.; Fagron Academy, LLC; Fagron Profession&&emi C, and Fagron
Holdings USA, LLC (the “Fagron Defendants”) do not qualify as the sender of the 2016 fax
advertisement under the TCPA and Bobo’s drugs cannot state a claim for violationT GRAe
or conversion against the Fagron Defendants; and (3) the 2016 fax advertisement was no more
than a bare procedural violation that does not constitute a concrete injury in fagqtiesdrey

Article 11l of the United States Constitution to establish stagudiDoc. 19 at 3-7.



I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

To survive a motion to dismiss, a pleading must include a “short and plain statement of the
claim showing that the pleader is entitled to religfshcroft v. Igbal, 556 U.S. 662, 6778 (2009)
(quoting Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(a)(2)). Labels, conclusions and formulaic recgaif the elements of
a cause of action are not sufficierid. (citing Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 555
(2007)). Furthermore, mere naked assertions are not suffidiéntA complant must contain
sufficient factual matter, which, if accepted as true, would “state a claiei¢bthat is plausible
on its face.” Id. (quotingTwombly, 550 U.S. at 570). “A claim has facial plausibility when the
plaintiff pleads factual content thatlows the court to draw the reasonable inference that the
defendant is liable for the misconduct allegettd” (citation omitted). The court, however, is not
bound to accept as true a legal conclusion stated as a “factual allegation” in ghaiciorid.

[I. DISCUSSION

A. Statute of Limitations

The statute of limitations for a TCPA claim is four years. 28 U.8.0658(a);olis v.
CitiMortgage, Inc., 700 Fed. App’x 965 (11th Cir. 2017). Likewise, the statute of limitations for
conversion is four yearsXavier v. Leview Boymelgreen Marquis Developers, LLC, 117 So. 3d
773, 775 (Fla. 3d DCA 2012).

Defendants move to dismiss Bobo’s Drugs’ TCPA and ewsign claims to the extent that
they rely on the May 1, 2013 fax, arguing that the fax was sent outside the l@pptedutes of
limitations. Bobo’s Drugs filed the Complaint on August 7, 2017. Doc. 1. Thus, the May 2013
fax does, indeed, fall outside of the statutes of limitations for the TCPA and convergmnt a
that Bobo’s Drugs concedes. Doc. 25-& 1Still, both counts in Plaintiff's complaint rely upon

the June 2, 2016 fax as well as the May 1, 2013 fax. Doc 1-44,48B52, 60. A angle fax may



serve as the basis for a TCPA and conversion claim and, therefore, Count$ Wwihdot be
dismissed.Palm Beach Golf Ctr.-Boca, Inc. v. John G. Sarris, D.D.S, P.A., 781 F.3d 1245, 1259
(11th Cir. 2015);JWD Auto., Inc. v. DIM Advisory Grp. LLC, 218 F. Supp. 3d 1335, 1340 .M
Fla. 2016). This case will proceed as to the June 2,f281&@hich is not barred by the statsite
of limitations

B. Standing

To meet Article 1lI's standing requirements plaintiff must demonstrate (1) anuny in
fact; (2) a causal connection between the injury and conduct complained of; trat ({3 likely
that the injury will be redressed by a favorable court rulingan v. Defenders of Wildlife, 504
U.S. 555, 56661 (1992).The injury in fact mat be “(1) concrete and particularized and (2) actual
or imminent, not conjectural or hypotheticald. at 560. A “particularized”injury “must affect
the plaintiff in a personal and individual wagjokeo, Inc. v. Robins, 136 S. Ct. 1540, 1548 (2016)
(quotingLujan, 504 U.S. at 560 n. 1).

Concrete injuries may arise from tangible or intangible harm, and Congrésellis
positioned” to identify anclevatede facto injuries—either tangible or intangiblethat were
previously inadequate in law to t&atus of legally cognizable injuriesd. at 1249. However,
doing so “does not mean thatplaintiff automatically satisfies the injuny-fact requirement
whenever a statute grants a person a statutory’rigght(“Article 11l standing requires a canete
injury even in the context of a statutory violatiprLujan 504 U.S. at 5782alm Beach Golf, 781
F.3dat 1251;Susinno v. Work Out World Inc., 862 F.3d 346, 350 (3idir. 2017). Thus, “a bare
procedural violation, divorced from any concrete harm” does not “satisfy they-infiact

requirement of Article IIl.” Spokeo, 136 S. Ct. at 1549.



Generally,the TCPAs intent with respect to unsolicited fax advertisements sought to
“protect citizens from the loss of the use of their fax machines during the tesimmof fax data.”
Palm Beach Golf, 781 F.3d at 125¢iting H.R. REP. NO. 10317, at 1). A recipient loses the
ability to use their fax machine during transmission of an unsolicited fattesbment, as well as
paper and toner.JWD Auto, 218 F. Supp. 3@t 1340. The costs associated with receiving
unsolicited fax messages are certainly tangible, even if indirect, whilegh@f time and usage
of one’s fax machine is intangible in natulel. Nonetheless, courts have held ttesteiptof an
unsolicited fax advertisement medrticle 1lII's standing requirements.d. (citing Prindle v.
Carrington Mortg. Servs., LLC, No. 3:13cv-1349-J34PDB, 2016 WL 4369424, at *9 n.11 (M.D.
Fla. Aug. 16, 2016)).Indeed the Eleventh Circuiaind the Middle District of Floridhave both
held thathe TCPA creates “a cognizable right” to makestakinds of injuries concret&lorence
Endocrine Clinic, PLLC v. Arriva Med., LLC, 858 F.3d 1362, 1366 (11th Cir. 201Palm Beach
Golf, 781 F.3d al.252;JWD Auto., Inc., 218 F. Supp. 3d at 134@dditionally, these same courts
have held that even a single violation of the TCPA coupled with an injury in fact idesufto
conferstanding. Palm Beach Golf, 781 F.3d at 1259 (holding that a sinfd& was sufficient to
survive a motion for dismissal, despite the minimal value of the pldaWwD Auto, 218 F. Supp.
3d at 1339 (“[T]he successful transmission of even a single unsolicited fax causgsran i
sufficiently concrete and particularized tonfer standing under Article 11l to assert a TCPA
claim.”).

Thus,Defendants’ reliance dgpokeo is misplaced While it is true that Article Il standing
is not automatically createdhenCongres®nactsa statutepokeo 136 S. Ct at 1549he TCPA
creates a cognizable right, and Bobo’s Drugs allegasncrete injury of the typbat the TCPA

is intendedo protect. Defendants cite to several cases alleging $pelteo requires a plaintiff to



plead an additional concrete injury when alleging austay violation. Doc. 19 at 6. However,
the TCPA case cited by Defendafds this argumentRomero v. Department Stores National
Bank, 199 F. Supp. 3d 1256 (S.D. Cal. 2016), has since been reversed by the United States Court
of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit, which “held that ‘a violation of the TCPA is a coaaefacto
injury,”” Romero v. Department Stores National Bank, No. 1656265, 2016 WL 1079728 (9th Cir.
Feb. 28, 2018) (quotingan Patten v. Vertical Fitness Grp., LLC, 847 F.3d 1037 (9th Ci2017)).

Other cases cited by Defendants are not applicable becausi® thetinvolve the concrete
injuries alleged here, but instead concern speculative harm from conduct that\éotddute.
For example, ifHancock v. Urban Outfitters, Inc., 830 F.3d 511, 512 (D.C. Cir. 2016), the
plaintiffs sued a retail store for requiring them to provide their zip cade®nnection with
purchases and in violation of a law stating that “no person shall, as a condition of acreptitig
card as payment far sale of goods or services, request or record the address or telephone number
of a credit card holder on the credit card transaction forid.(quoting D.C. Code&s 47-3153).
The paintiffs admitted that their only injury was being required to providsr thip code when
they should not have beeld. at 514. Thus, there was no tangible loss such as paper or toner, and
no intangible loss such as the loss of use of a fax machine, as is the case here.

Here, Bobo’s Drugshas properly alleged that Defendants wadtedo’s Drugs’time,
paper, andnk toner the injury) by sending unsolicited faxéthe violation) Doc. 1 1 4, 5%nd
doesnot need to plead any additional injurie&ccordingly, Defendants’ motion to dismiss for
lack of standing is denied.

C. The meaning of“sender” under the TCPA.

The TCPA makes it unlawful for anyone “tese any telephone facsimile machine,

computer, or other device to send, to a telephone facsimile machine, an unsolicitedenclettis



unless there exists an “established business relationship” between “serdiglearecipient
meeting certain criteria. 47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(1)(C) (2012). The F&ptendantargue that they
are not“senders”of the fax advertisements within the meaningtlte TCPA andthe fax
advertisements were saatily on behalf of Defendant B&B Pharmaceuticals, (ffB&B”) . Doc.
19 p. 3-4.

A plain reading of § 227(b)(1)(C) provides no clear indication on the matter as the
language‘to send”is ambiguous as to whgpecifically may be held liable as a “sendéof
unsolicited fax advertisement®alm Beach Golf, 781 F.3d at 12556. However, in 1995, the
Federal Communications Commission (“FC@3%ued a Memorandum Opinion and Order that
stated that “the TCPA provided for direct liability for an entity on whose bebatfgjor services
were promoted by unsolicited fax advertisemelat. at 1256(citing In re Rules & Regulations
Implementing the Tel. Consumer Prot. Act of 1991, 10 FCC Rcd. 12391, 12407 (1995)
(memorandum opinion and order).ater, in 2006, the FCC promulgated a regulation defining who
is liable as a “sender” of a facsimds “the person or entity on whose behalf a facsimile unsolicited
advertisement is sent or whose goods or services are advertipeaimoted in the unsolicited
advertisement.”ld. at 1254 n.9 (quoting 47 C.F.R. 8 64.1200(f)j10n 2008, the FCC further
clarified that the “sender will not always be the same party that actuallynitaribe facsimile to
the recipient.” Arkin v. Innocutis Holdings, LLC, 188 F. Supp. 3d 1304, 1309 (M.D. Fla. 2016)
(quotinglin the Matter of Rules & Regulations Implementing the Tel. Consumer Prot. Act of 1991
Junk Fax Prevention Act of 2005, 23 F.C.C. Rcd. 15059, 15065 n.49 (2008).other words, the
FCC'’s current view is thatne whose goods or services are promoted in the unsolicited fax
may be held strictly liable under the TCPA for its transmission,even absent a showing that

the fax was sent on its behalfScoma Chiropractic, P.A. v. Dental Equities, LLC, 232 F. Supp.



3d 1201, 1204 (M.D. Fla. 2017) (quotidgvD Auto., 218 F. Supp. 3d at 134{@¢mphasis in
original); but see SCOMA Chiropractic, P.A. v. Jackson Hewitt Inc., No. 2:17cv-24+tM-38CM,

2017 WL 3149360, at =3 (M.D. Fla. July 25, 2017) (granting a motion to dismiss because the
plaintiff lumped all defendants together and failed to allege how certain defemdaetsied to

the unsolicited fax).

The 2016 faxadvertisesthe Fagron Bfendants’ FACTS program by statitigat the
progam is “available to offer pharmacies continued education in the form of liveltatioss,
formulation database and development support, andb-dpte information on the latest
compounding trends and information all led by the highlyskiieadf.” Doc. 1, Ex. A. The
advertisement then provides both an email address and a phone number totloerffagron
Defendantgo join the program with a short request from B&B to mentioRdgron’s program
that “B&B referred you' 1d. Neverthelessthe Fagron Defendants argue that the fax was sent on
behalf of B&Band therefore they cannot be held liable. Doc. 19 p. 4.

The Eleventh Circuit adopted the FCC'’s interpretation of “sendePaim Beach Golf,
781 F.3d at 1257. Howeverhile Palm Beach Golf did apply an “on behalf of” theory of direct-
sender liability, that case involved a fax transmitted in 2005, faribie promulgation of the FCE’
2006 Regulations781 F.3d at 1254 n.9, 125BB. It is, therefore, fair to reaBalm Beach Golf
asnot limiting the definition of “sender” under the current regulatidBee Arkin, 188 F.Supp.3d
at1309.

Since the Eleventh Circuit has not expressly rejected the strict definitiosentiér”
articulated in the FCC’s 2006 Regulations, and becaug@aimtiffs received the junk fax in June
2016, this Court will apply the 2006 Regulation definition, as it has done previoSstyna

Chiropractic, P.A. v. Dental Equities, LLC, 232 F. Supp. 3d 1201, 1205 (M.D. Fla. 2010%D



Auto., 218 F. Supp. 3d aB#2. Refusing to do so would likely violate the Hobbs Act, 28 U.S.C.
§ 2342,which grants the circuit courts @ppeals exclusive jurisdictioaver challenges to
administrative agenciemterpretation of statutory languaggcoma, 232 F. Supp. 3d at 12@6;
JWD Auto., 218 F. Supp. 3d at 134qjwa v. Bright House Networks, LLC, No. 2:16-CV-235—
FTM—29MRM, 2016 WL 3901378, at *4 (M.D. Fla. July 19, 2016) (“[T]his court, like all district
courts, ‘lacks jurisdiction under the Hobbs Act to consider thenaegt that the FCC incarctly
interpreted [the TCPA]."Here,Bobo’s Drugshas adequately allegéuht the Fagrobefendants
are “senders” of the2016fax sent by B&B which advertised the Fagron Defendants’ FACTS
program.Doc. 1 57, Ex. AThus, the Counill denythe Defendants’ motioto dismisson this
basis
V. CONCLUSION

Acceptingthe allegation®f the Complaints true, and drawing all reasonable inferences
in Bobo’s Drugs’favor, the Court concludethat Bobo’s Drugshas stated a claimpon which
relief may be granteand theFagron Defendantsere “senders” of the fax communication within
the meaning of the TCPA. Additionally, Bobo’s Drugs has standing to maintain this action.
However,Plaintiff's claims for relief based othe May 1,2013fax will be dismissed, as time
barred

Accordingly, it is herebYDRDERED:

1. The Motion to Dismiss Counts | andl of Plaintiff's Complaint (Doc. 9) is

GRANTED, in part, to the extent that any claims for relief based on the May 1,
2013 fax are dismigsl as timebarred. In all other respects, the Motion to Dismiss

Counts | and Il of Plaintiff's Complaint (Doc. 19)[¥ENIED.
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DONE AND ORDERED in Tampa, Florida on June 8, 2018.

0 A

) ' 3 [ |
"‘:_.J ko n . CAanJaad a. }'J'f" N piA* N
Charlenes Edwards Honeywell
United States District Judge

Copies to:
Counsel of Record and Unrepresented Parties, if any
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